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Abstract

Congress codified the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (NHPA),
to provide guidelines and requirements for preserving tangible elements of
the nation’s past. This was done primarily through the creation of the Na-
tional Register of Historic Places (NRHP). Through Sections 110 and 106
of the NHPA, federal agencies are required to address their cultural re-
sources, which are defined as any prehistoric or historic district, site,
building, structure, or object.

This document contains the nomination form and all supporting docu-
mentation for listing the William Barstow Mansion property, located at
300 Steamboat Road, Kings Point, in Nassau County, New York, on the
NRHP. The property is considered historically significant on a statewide
level as a reminder of the “Golden Age” of the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. The property consists of two contributing features—
the William Barstow Mansion and garage—which retain their integrity
from the period of significance, 1915—1960. The property is part of the
McNulty Campus of the United States Merchant Marine Academy and cur-
rently serves as the American Merchant Marine Museum. It was listed on
29 August 2014 as NRHP #14000539.

DISCLAIMER: The contents of this report are not to be used for advertising, publication, or promotional purposes.
Citation of trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of such commercial products.
All product names and trademarks cited are the property of their respective owners. The findings of this report are not to
be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

DESTROY THIS REPORT WHEN NO LONGER NEEDED. DO NOT RETURN IT TO THE ORIGINATOR.
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Preface
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Voulgaris, Federal Preservation Officer, U.S. Department of Transporta-
tion, Maritime Administration (MARAD).
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(CN-C) of the Installations Division (CN), U.S. Army Engineer Research
and Development Center — Construction Engineering Research Laboratory
(ERDC-CERL). At the time of publication, Dr. Michael L. Hargrave was
Chief, CEERD-CN-C, and Ms. Michelle Hanson was Chief, CEERD-CN.
The Deputy Director of ERDC-CERL was Dr. Kirankumar Topudurti, and
the Director was Dr. llker Adiguzel.

Colonel Jeffrey R. Eckstein was the Commander of ERDC, and Dr. Jeffery
P. Holland was the Director.
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vi

Unit Conversion Factors

Multiply By To Obtain
acres 4,046.873 square meters
degrees Fahrenheit (F-32)/1.8 degrees Celsius
feet 0.3048 meters

gallons (U.S. liquid) 3.785412 E-03 cubic meters
hectares 1.0 E+04 square meters
inches 0.0254 meters

miles (U.S. statute) 1,609.347 meters

miles per hour 0.44704 meters per second
square feet 0.09290304 square meters
square inches 6.4516 E-04 square meters
square miles 2.589998 E+06 square meters
square yards 0.8361274 square meters
yards 0.9144 meters
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1 Methodology

1.1 Background

Congress codified the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (NHPA),
the nation’s most effective cultural resources legislation to date, in order to
provide guidelines and requirements for preserving tangible elements of
our past. This was done primarily through the creation of the National
Register of Historic Places (NRHP). Contained within this piece of
legislation (Sections 110 and 106) are requirements for federal agencies to
address their cultural resources, which are defined as any prehistoric or
historic district, site, building, structure, or object. Section 110 requires
federal agencies to inventory and evaluate their cultural resources. Section
106 requires the determination of effect of federal undertakings on
properties deemed eligible or potentially eligible for the NRHP.

The William Barstow Mansion property is located at 300 Steamboat Road,
Kings Point, Nassau County, New York. The property is part of the
McNulty Campus of the U.S. Merchant Marine Academy (USMMA) and
currently serves as the American Merchant Marine Museum (AMMM).

The William Barstow Mansion property boundary includes the area
immediately surrounding the mansion and the garage and the landscape
to the west of the mansion to the shore of Long Island Sound. Both the
mansion and garage retain their integrity from the period of significance,
1915-1960. Other portions of the former estate of William S. Barstow have
not retained their integrity and are not included as part of the historic
property. Figure 1 and Figure 2 show the area included in the nomination
(these maps are also contained within the NRHP nomination form
reproduced in Chapter 2).
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Figure 1. Location map of William Barstow Mansion. (Details are from the Flushing,
NY, U.S. Geological Survey Quadrangle Map.)
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1.2 Approach
1.2.1 Previous reports

The USMMA has performed three other architectural inventories and
evaluations of buildings at the USMMA per Section 110 of the NHPA. In
2005, the Louis Berger Group wrote Cultural Resources Survey Report,
U.S. Merchant Marine Academy, Kings Point, New York. The second
reported the character-defining features of contributing buildings and
structures in the USMMA Historic District and was written by the U.S.
Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research Development Center-
Construction and Engineering Research Laboratory (ERDC-CERL) (Smith
et al. 2014a). This report expanded the historic context and the historic
district contained in the Louis Berger report. A third report captured the
USMMA Historic District nomination to the NRHP (Smith et al. 2014b).

While the William Barstow Mansion property is on the USMMA grounds,
it is not part of the USMMA Historic District.

1.2.2 Current project

ERDC-CERL was retained by USMMA to complete a Section 110 inventory
and assessment of all buildings and structures within the USMMA. One
outcome was the nomination of the William Barstow Mansion property for
listing on the NRHP, as detailed in Chapter 2 of this report.

1.2.3 Site visits

ERDC-CERL researchers inventoried and assessed the buildings and
structures within the William Barstow Mansion Historic District during
three site visits that occurred in December 2012, January 2013, and April
2013.

124 Submission to NRHP

The nomination of the William Barstow Mansion property was submitted
to the Keeper of the National Register of Historic Places in July 2014 and
approved as listing #14000539 on 29 August 2014. Details of the
submission along with the complete nomination form are in Chapter 2 of
this report.
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1.3 Researchers

This project was conducted by ERDC-CERL in Champaign, Illinois. The
researchers were Adam Smith (M.Arch), with 15 years experience in mili-
tary architectural history; Susan Enscore (PhD.), with over 20 years expe-
rience in military history; and Megan Weaver Tooker (MLA), with 15 years
experience as a historic landscape architect.



ERDC/CERL TR-14-29

2 National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form

The following 135 pages in this chapter reproduce the NPS Form 10-990-a
which was submitted by The United States Maritime Administration Fed-
eral Preservation Office to the New York State Historic Preservation Of-
ficer (SHPO) for concurrence in March 2014 and to the Keeper of the
National Register of Historic Places in July 2014. Formal acceptance by
the NRHP came on 29 August 2014 as listing #14000539.

The William Barstow Mansion property’s period of significance is 1915—
1960. The listing consists of two contributing features (mansion and gar-
age), which both retain their integrity and meet National Register Criteria
A, B, and C at a state level. Criterion A is met through the association of
the remaining structures from this period with the history of the Long Is-
land “Gold Coast” estates. Criterion B is met through the continuing asso-
ciation of the property with William S. Barstow, a prominent industrialist
of the era. Criterion C is met through the design of the main mansion and
garage on the Barstow property.

The property’s centerpiece is the Mediterranean Revival-style Barstow
mansion, which is located on the waterfront with expansive grounds. A
secondary structure is the Mediterranean Revival-style former garage. The
William Barstow Mansion contains features that contribute to these areas
of significance, and it conveys a sense of historic and architectural cohe-
siveness through its location, design, setting, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association.

Descriptions of all contributing and noncontributing resources to the dis-
trict (along with numerous photographs) are contained in the nomination
form that follows.
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NPE Form 10-800 OMB No. 1024-0018 {Expires 5/31/2012)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How
to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form. If any item does net apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not
applicable.” For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions.
Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative items on continuation sheets if needed (NPS Form 10-900a).

1. Name of Property

historic name Barstow, William, Mansion

other names/site number  American Merchant Marine Museum; McNulty Campus

2. Location

street & number 300 Steamboat Road not for publication
city or town Kings Point vicinity

state  New York code NY county Nassau code 0589  zipcode 11024

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

| hereby certify that this _ nomination __ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for
registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional reguirements
set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property __meets _ does not meet the National Register Criteria. | recommend that this property be
considered significant at the following level(s) of significance:

national X statewide _local

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property _meets _ does not meet the National Register criteria.

Signature of commenting cfficial Date

Title State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

4. National Park Service Certification

| hereby certify that this property is:

_ entered in the National Register _ determined eligible for the National Register
_ determined not eligible for the National Register __removed from the National Register

__other (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form
NPS Forrn 10-800 OMB No. 1024-0018

Barstow, William, Mansion
MName of Property

{Expires 5/31/2012)

Nassau, NY

County and State

B. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply.) {(Check only one box.)

- private
- public - Local

| | public - State
public - Federal

building(s)
district
site
structure

- object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing  Noncontributing

2 0 buildings
0 0 sites

0 0 structures
0 1 objects

2 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

DOMEST IC/single dwelling

DOMEST IC/secondary structure

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions. )

RECREATION AND CULTURE /museum

DOMESTIC/single dwelling

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)

LATE 19™ AND 20™ CENTURY
REVIVALS/Mediterranean Revival

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions.)

foundation:. TERRA COTTA

walls: TERRA COTTA, STUCCO

roof: _ASPHALT,; TERRA COTTA

other:
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NP5 Form 10-200 OMB No. 1024-0018 (Expires 5f31/2012)
Barstow, William, Mansion Nassau, NY
MName of Property County and State

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance of the property. Explain contributing and noncontributing resources
if necessary. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as
its location, setting, size, and significant features.)

Summary Paragraph

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Narrative Description

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET
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United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OME No. 1024-0018

Barstow, William, Mansion

MName of Property

{Expires 5/31/2012)

Nassau, NY

County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
{(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

A
B

c

|:|D

Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

Froperty embodies the distinctive characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant

and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious

purposes.

Removed from its original location.

A birthplace or grave.

A cemetery.

A reconstructed building, object, or structure.
A commemorative property.

Less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary)

Areas of Significance
{Enter categories from instructions.)

SOCIAL HISTORY

ARCHITECTURE
INDUSTRY

Period of Significance

1915-1960

Significant Dates

ca. 1915 (construction of mansion)

1931 (construction of music room addition)

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

William S. Barstow

Cultural Affiliation
na

Architect/Builder
Mizner, Addison {(likely)
Rickard, Greville (1931 addition)
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-800 OMB Mo. 1024-0018 {Expires 5/31/2012)
Barstow, William, Mansion Nassau, NY
MName of Property County and State

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and
applicable criteria.)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Developmental history/additional historic context information (if appropriate)
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United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form
OMB No. 1024-0018

NP5 Form 10-800

Barstow, William, Mansion
MName of Property

{Expires 5/31/2012)

Nassau, NY
County and State

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form. )

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67 has been
requested)
___ previously listed in the National Register
___previously determined eligible by the National Register
designated a Mational Historic Landmark
recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # __
recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey #

Primary location of additional data:

__ State Historic Preservation Office
___ Other State agency
_ Federal agency
Local government
University
Other
Name of repository:

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned):

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 2 acres
(Do not include previously listed resource acreage. )

UTM References

(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 18 604377 4518950

Zane Easting Northing Zane Easting Northing
2 4

Zone Easting MNorthing Zone  Easting MNorthing

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property. )

The William Barstow Mansion boundary includes the area immediately surrounding the mansion and the garage and the
landscape to the west of the mansion to the shore of Long Island Sound.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected. )
The boundary includes the mansion and garage, which both retain their integrity from the period of significance. The other

portions of the former estate of William Barstow (now the McMNulty Campus of the U.S. Merchant Marine Academy) have
not retained their integrity (due to the absence of the greenhouse, teahouse, bathhouse, and original landscape). .
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form
NPS Forrn 10-800 OMB No. 1024-0018

Barstow, William, Mansion
MName of Property

{Expires 5/31/2012)

Nassau, NY
County and State

11. Form Prepared By

namefitle Adam Smith, Susan Enscore, and Megan Tooker

organization US Army Corps of Engineers, ERDC-CERL

date 30 September 2013

street & number 2902 Newmark Drive

city or town Champaign

telephone 217-352-6511
state IL zip code 61822

e-mail adam.smith@usace.army. mil

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

» Maps: AUSGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all

photographs to this map.

= Continuation Sheets

Photographs:

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi (pixels per inch)

or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map.

SEE CONTINUATION SHEETS

Property Owner:
{Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO )

name

street & number

city or town

telephone

state Zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the Mational Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a
benefit in accordance with the Mational Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.5.C.460 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement; Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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NPS Form 10-900-a (Rev. 8/2002) OMB No. 1024-0018 (Expires 5-31-2012)
United States Department of the Interior Barstow, William, Mansion
National Park Service Name of Property
Nassau, NY
National Register of Historic Places Gty and shive
Continuation Sheet Name of multiple listing (if applicable)

Section number _7_ Page _1

Narrative Description Summary Paragraph

The William Barstow mansion and garage is located at 300 Steamboat Road, Kings Point, Nassau County, New
York. It is now part of the McNulty Campus of the U.S. Merchant Marine Academy (USMMA). It is a three-story
house with a basement of structural terra cotta and walls of structural terra cotta covered in stucco, designed in
the Mediterranean Revival style. It has a large one-story addition to the north which has a basement of structural
terra cotta and walls of structural terra cotta covered in stucco. The original portion of the mansion design dates to
circa 1915 and was more than likely designed by Addison Mizner, who designed other Mediterranean Revival
mansions on the Gold Coast of Long Island. The addition was designed in 1929 and completed in 1931 by Yale
University graduate Greville Rickard. The original portion of the mansion is a mixture of Mediterranean Revival
elements (stucco, red clay tile roof, heavy brackets) and Beaux Arts (arched windows and doors, belt course, and
quoins). The original mansion is asymmetrical, as is the addition. The front door of the mansion faces south out
on to a driveway (Photo 1). The living room and music room both face west out to Long Island Sound (Photo 2).
The servant's entrance is on the north and faces out to a small parking area that backs up to the garage. The east
facade of the music room addition has two entrances for guests depending on the event.

The garage is located to the east of the mansion. It also is in the Mediterranean Revival style with Mediterranean
Revival elements (stucco, red clay tile roof, wrought-iron balcony) and Beaux Arts elements (square pilasters and
columns, belt course, and quoins). The walls are structural terra cotta tile covered with stucco. It is a two-story
building with an apartment on the lower level (facing the parking area) and a four-car garage on the upper level
that faces east and a driveway access from Sunset Road.

Architectural Description

SITE

The mansion sits at the end of a long driveway with access from a gate at the intersection of Steamboat Road and
Elmridge Road (Photo 3). The overall site slopes greatly down from Elmridge Road on the east to the Long Island
shore on the west. The mansion and garage sit on the northern edge of the property near Sunset Road. A wide
expanse of lawn slopes down from the terrace of both the mansion and its 1931 addition (Photo 4). The site is not
heavily wooded and has the remnants of what was once a large formal garden to the south and west of the
driveway. A large propeller is at the end of the driveway. The propeller was added to the site after the USMMA
Alumni Association purchased the property in 1974 and transformed the mansion into the American Merchant
Marine Museum (AMMM). The mansion’s garage and basement were turned into storage for the museum, while the
former chauffeur’s quarters became Quarters O.

MANSION

EXTERIOR

The walls of the mansion are structural terra cotta tiles covered in beige stucco. The first floor of the mansion is level
with the ground, with no architectural detail separating the wall from the base. The trim surrounding the doors and
windows is all very simple and painted the same color as the wall. There is a belt course beneath the second floor
windows and beneath the third floor windows.

The original windows have all been replaced with anodized bronze aluminum frames with smoked glass. The
replacement windows appear to mimic the original windows' shape. The three French doors with fanlights in
arched openings on the second floor of the east facade are original. The three French doors with fanlights in
arched openings in the living room have been replaced with windows. The front door and the servant's door are
original on the main portion of the mansion, and all of the doors on the mansion’s addition are original.
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NPS Form 10-900-a (Rev. 8/2002) OMB No. 1024-0018 (Expires 5-31-2012)
United States Department of the Interior Barstow, William, Mansion
National Park Service Name of Property
Nassau, NY
National Register of Historic Places Gty and shive
Continuation Sheet Name of multiple listing (if applicable)

Section number _7_ Page 2

South Facade

The main facade is asymmetrical (Figure 18 and Photo 3). The front door is covered by a red-tiled pent roof that is
supported by two ornately carved brackets (Photo 6). Each floor on the south facade tiers back from the one
below. The roof of the vestibule/dining room tier has a rolled asphalt roof hidden by a parapet. The roof of the
second floor and third floor are hipped and covered with red clay tile. To the left of the front entrance are two
arched window openings (the morning room), while to the right of the front door are three squared window
openings separated by pilasters. Farthest to the right is a wall for the breakfast room which is one story and set
back from the main facade. The breakfast room also has a hipped roof covered with red clay tile. The second floor
has nine double-hung windows in sets of three, and to the far right are two window openings separated by a
Classical-styled column of a former sleeping porch. A belt course is below the window sill level. The third floor has
seven evenly spaced windows. Another belt course is directly below these windows. The first and second floors
do not have quoins, but the third floor does have quoins (Photo 7).

West Facade

The facade on the original portion of the mansion that faces Long Island Sound is symmetrical (Photo 8). The
central section has three arched openings each with a window. There are two copper light fixtures on either side
of these windows. Cn either side of the central section are two arched window openings. The second floor has
five evenly spaced windows on the central section, with the center one having a pediment and a balustrade
(Photo 9). A belt course is below the window sill level. To each side of these five windows, are three windows
separated by a Classical-styled column. The third floor has four evenly spaced windows. Another belt course is
directly below these windows. Beneath the third floor belt course at the center of the building is a large
ornamental medallion with a sailing ship depicted on it (Photo 10).

A large addition was added to the north of the original mansion in 1931 that contained a music room, solarium,
library, and den on the ground floor, and a movie theater and tap room in the basement. The addition was
designed by Greville Rickard. The west facade is dominated by a glassed-in solarium with Beaux Arts details. The
solarium has curved glass corners and in the center of the solarium are three glass doors each topped by a
Classical-styled fanlight window (Photo 11). The roof of the solarium is metal and glass, while the roof of the
music room addition is hipped and covered with asphalt shingles.

There is a terrace that extends the full width of the west facade to include the original portion of the mansion and
the music room addition. The original portion of the terrace is tiled with terra cotta Batchelder tile in a square
pattern but there is a diamond-shaped detail in the tile with a center tile depicting a sailing ship (Photo 12), while
the portion to the west of the solarium is only concrete.

North Facade
The facade of the music room addition is a blank stucco wall. It abuts the property line to the north. There are
quoins on the corners and a cove detailing beneath the roofline.

The facade of the original portion of the mansion has two original doors. One leads into the kitchen wing, and one
leads down to the basement stairs. The windows of the servant’s dining room are to the left. The servant's dining
room has a hipped red tiled roof. The second floor has nine double-hung windows in sets of three and to the far
left are two window openings separated by a Classical-styled column. A belt course is below the window sill level.
The third floor has seven evenly spaced windows. Another belt course is directly below these windows. The first
and second floors do not have quoins, but the third floor does have quoins.

East Facade

The east facade of the music room addition is one-story with paired double-hung windows made of replacement
anodized bronze aluminum (Photo 13). There are two original wood-paneled doors. The right door (north
entrance) has a glass canopy (Photo 13), while the left door (south entrance) has a red terra cotta clay tile pent
roof (Photo 14). The addition is separated from the original mansion by a covered walkway.
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The east facade of the mansion is symmetrical (Figure 23 and Photo 13). The first floor is flanked by the breakfast
room ell on the left and the servant’s dining room on the right. Both of these ells are one-story with hipped roofs
covered in red terra cotta tile. Between the two ells are four double-hung windows. The second floor is dominated
in the center by three French doors in arched openings that open out onto a small Beaux Arts balcony with a
balustrade supported by four modillions (Photo 16). The three French door with fanlights are flanked by a
casement window each, with a Classical-styled pediment and large window surround. To the right and left of the
central section are two window openings separated by a Classical-styled column for a former sleeping porch on
the left and another sleeping porch on the right. A belt course is below the window sill level. The third floor has
three evenly spaced windows. Another belt course is directly below these windows. Beneath the third-floor belt
course at the center of the building is a large ornamental medallion with a sailing ship depicted on it (Photo 10).
Quoins are on the corners of the central section, but not on the two ells. The central section has a hipped roof
covered with red terra cotta tiles. A metal fire escape leads from a door inserted into the wall on the third floor
down to a metal ladder that reaches the ground from the second floor (Photo 15).

INTERIOR - FIRST FLOOR

Vestibule (1)"

The vestibule is accessed by wrought-iron doors with glass insets. There is a casement window on the west wall,
and a paneled wood door that leads into a closet on the east wall. The walls are covered with stone. There is a
stone baseboard and cornice, and stone pilasters with capitals in the corners. The floor is black and white
checkered marble. The ceiling is a decorated, coffered, barrel vault. Wood French doors allow access to the
foyer.

Foyer (2)

The foyer is an asymmetrical room dominated by a marble staircase to the second floor (Photo 17). The staircase
has a wrought iron railing designed by Greville Rickard in 1929 (Figure 21 [bottom] and Photo 18). It is not known
what the original railing looked like. To the left of the staircase is a small passage that accesses a small telephone
room, elevator, and the servant's hallway. The walls of the foyer are faced with stone and have a stone
baseboard and stone cornice. There are three large openings in the foyer, each with a significant stone surround
and entablature. The opening to the left of the passage has wood doors and is the main entrance into the living
room. The opening on the west wall accesses the morning room, while the opening on the east wall accesses the
dining room; both of these have sliding doors. A pendant light fixture hangs from a ceiling medallion, and there
are two wall sconces.

Morning Room (3)

The morning room is small room in the southwest corner of the mansion. It can be entered through sliding doors
from the foyer or from two sets of doors from the living room. The walls are plaster, and the floor is green
Batchelder-like tile in a square pattern. The ceiling is an undecorated groin vault with a pendant light fixture
hanging down from the middle (Photo 19). It has windows in arches on the south and west sides of the room.

Living Room (4)

The living room is accessed on the south from wide, double, wood doors from the foyer and two smaller sets of
wood doors from the morning room. The room is accessed on the north from the servant's area through a single
door (which is part of a set in which one door is blind), and two sets of wood doors from the fountain room (Figure
20 [top] and Photo 20). The door surrounds and large entablatures associated with the doors' openings on the
north and south sides of the room are mirror images of each other. The room has three large, arched openings on
the west facing the terrace, with views out to Long Island Sound. These openings originally had three sets of
French doors, but all have been replaced with windows. The east wall has a large Beaux Art fireplace with a
Rococo mirror above the mantel (Photo 21). The living room has a paneled wainscot on all four sides. The fleoor is

I Numbers in this style refer to locations marked on the Sketch Map that follows the nharrative deseription of the mansion.
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wood. The ceiling is highly decorated with a plaster cornice and ceiling medallion. The room has a large crystal
chandelier hanging from the medallion (Photo 22).

Visitor's Washroom and Toilet (5)

Behind the large double door (one of which is blind) in the living room, is a passage that has a closet. The
passage leads to a large washroom and toilet that was used by visitors to the mansion. The walls are covered in
mottled brown Batchelder-like tile, same as the toilet stall. There is a pedestal sink and a toilet in the room. A door
on the east wall leads to the servant's passage.

Fountain Room (6)

The fountain room is a small room in the northwest corner of the mansion. It can be entered through two sets of
double doors on the south from the living room, and an opening for the passage to the music room on the north.
Arched replacement windows are on the west and north sides of the room. The walls are plaster, and the floor is
green Batchelder-like tile in a square pattern similar to the morning room. The ceiling is an undecorated groin
vault with a pendant light fixture hanging down from the middle. There is a large cast stone fountain on the east
wall (Photo 23).

Passage (7)

Connecting the fountain room to the music room is a small passage. The passage has plaster walls and green
Batchelder-like tile floor set in a square pattern similar to the morning room and fountain room. There is a low-
profile barrel vault ceiling. This passage begins the 1931 addition to the main part of the mansion that was
designed by Greville Rickard.

Music Room (8)

The music room is the largest room in the mansion. This room was designed by Greville Rickard in 1929, with
construction completed in 1931 as part of a large addition to the original mansion. The music room is a large
rectangular room that faces west towards the solarium (Figure 21 [top]). The west side of the room has three
arched openings with French doors with fanlights that cpen out to the solarium. The north side of the room has a
large, carved, wood screen that originally covered the opening into the organ pipe room (Photo 24), but there is
now a wall behind the screen. The screen is decorated with music symbols. The east side has a large cast stone
fireplace surround (Photo 25). The fireplace is flanked by two wood doors; the left one accesses the library, while
the right one accesses the music room vestibule. There are two stained glass windows near the top of the east
wall. The south side has a small chapel alcove and a small room for the organ (no longer extant). The chapel has
wood pocket doors, a groin vault and a stained glass window. The floor is wood; walls are roughly troweled
plaster and the ceiling is highly decorated wood with decorated wood beams. Two iron Mediterranean Revival
chandeliers hang from the ceiling (one is shown in Photo 26), and there are sconces on the walls.

Solarium (9)

A metal and glass solarium is to the west of the music room. It is accessed from the music room through three
French doors. The floor of the solarium is terra cotta Batchelder tile, the walls are glass, and the ceiling is metal
and glass.

Library (10)

The library is on the northeast corner of the Rickard addition. It is accessed by a wood paneled door from the
music room on the west and a wood paneled door on the east from the parking area. The walls are covered with
wood paneling, the floor is covered with carpet, and there are several wood built-in shelves.

Former Organ Pipe Room (11)

To the north of the music room and to the west of the library, there was a space that once extended down to the
basement and contained the pipes for the organ. The organ pipes were removed at some point, and a floor was
inserted in the large two-story space that is currently used by the museum for exhibit space.
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Vestibule and Cloak Room (12)

To the south of the library and to the east of the music room is the vestibule for the addition and a cloak room. It is
accessed from the parking area on the east by a wood paneled door and from the music room to the west also by
a wood paneled door. A stone stairway circles down to an anteroom in the basement (Photo 27). The stairway
has a wrought iron railing. An art glass window is in the stairway with a depiction of the Pied Piper. A pendant light
hangs from the center of the ceiling.

Dining Room (13)

The dining room is to the right of the foyer in the original portion of the mansion. It is a large wood-paneled room
with a heavy dentil cornice (Photo 28). The south wall of the room has a large three-part window looking out onto
the driveway. The east wall has wood sliding doors that open into the breakfast room. The north wall of the room
has a wood paneled door that accesses the butler pantry and a wood paneled door on the left that accesses the
servant's hallway (Figure 20 [bottom]). The room has parquet flooring. A large metal chandelier hangs from a
medallion in the center of the ceiling, and there are sconces in a complementary design on the walls.

Breakfast Room (14)

The breakfast room is accessed from the dining room from the west by wood-paneled sliding doors. The interior
of the breakfast room is decorated in the style of Pompeii and Herculaneum. The room has three windows on the
east wall and three windows on the south wall (Photo 29); the windows are separated by columns with capitals.
Bronze grills hide the radiators beneath each window. The floor is composed of small mosaic tile. The north and
west walls are decoratively painted (north wall shown in Photo 30). The ceiling is also decoratively painted, and a
chandelier hangs from a painted medallion on the ceiling (Photo 31). The breakfast room also has sconces on the
walls.

Butler's Pantry (15)

The butler's pantry has two windows on the east wall with a large pink porcelain sink below them (Photo 32); set
within the sink is a Kohler Electric Sink. The west side of the room has built-in cabinets and a door to the servant’s
hallway (Photo 33). The walls are covered with green-glazed tile with black accents set in a herringbone pattern
near the top. There are plaster walls above the tile.

Kitchen (16)

The kitchen is a large square room with two windows on the east wall. There are built-in cabinets on the south
and west walls, also on the west wall are a series of cold-storage boxes (Figure 22, Photos 34-35). The north wall
once had a large stove and an entrance to the passage that accesses the servant’s dining room and the laundry
room. The walls are covered with green glazed tile with black accents that is set in a herringbone pattern. There
are plaster walls above the tile.

Servant’s Dining Room (17)
This room has windows on three sides and is now utilized for office space.

Laundry Room (18)
The laundry room is a large square room cavered in yellow glazed tile. The room has its original radiator and
original wash sink.

Servant's Hallway (19)

The servant’s hallway has a back stairs that lead up to the second floor and down to the basement. There are
doors that access a variety of closets and also some of the main rooms of the mansion. A servant’s toilet is at the
north end of the hallway and it has the same green-glazed tile with black accents as the other servant's rooms.
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INTERIOR — SECOND FLOOR

Stairway (20)

A grand marble staircase rises from the first floor to the second floor. The stairway has a wrought-iron railing
designed by Greville Rickard in 1929. It is not known what the original railing looked like. The staircase has a
large landing halfway up, and then the stairs turn to access the lounge. The sides of the staircase are faced in
stone. A crystal chandelier hangs from the ceiling of the second floor and illuminates the landing (Photo 36).

Lounge (21)

The staircase enters the lounge through a square arch with a pilaster on either side of the opening and two fluted
columns equally spaced in the opening (Photo 37). The lounge is a large rectangular room with a wood parguet
floor. The room has plaster walls, a paneled wainscot, and a detailed cornice. The north wall has a bedroom door
on the left, a large Classical-style fireplace surround, and a door to a former sleeping porch on the right. The east
wall is dominated by three arched openings, each with a set of original wood French doors and fanlights (Photo
38). To either side of the arches is a window. The south wall has a door on the left that accesses a former
sleeping porch (now an office) and a door on the right for a bedroom. There are two chandeliers and six sconces
in the room.

Northeast Sleeping Porch (22)

This sleeping porch is accessed by a door on the north wall of the lounge. There are windows on the east wall
and on the north wall and windows on the west wall that look into the northeast bedroom. The floor is covered in
red, hexagonal, Batchelder-like tile (Photo 39), and the ceiling is coffered wood.

Northeast Bedroom (23)

This bedroom is accessed by a door on the north wall of the lounge. There are windows on the north wall and
windows on the east wall that look out onto the northeast sleeping porch. On the west wall, there is a door to the
bathroom on the right, and a door to the hallway on the left. The ceiling is plaster shaped into a barrel vault, and
the floor is wood (Photo 40). There is one bare bulb light fixture in the center of the ceiling and a series of sconces
on the wall.

Northeast Bathroom (24)

This bathroom has the most complex tile pattern of the bathrooms in the mansion. The tile is Batchelder-like with
mottled tan coloring and blue tile accents. The tile on the floor is in a herringbone pattern surrounded by a ring of
blue tile (Photo 41). The same tile is used as a wainscot. The sink is a peach-hued pedestal; the toilet and tub are
also in a peach hue. There is a medicine chest with mirror above the sink and a sconce to either side of the
mirror. There is a window on the north wall.

Southeast Sleeping Porch (23)
This sleeping porch is accessed by a door on the south wall of the lounge. There are windows on the east wall
and on the south wall. The floor is covered in red, hexagonal Batchelder-like tile, and the ceiling is coffered wood.

Southeast Bedroom (26)

This bedroom is accessed by a door on the south wall of the lounge. It has windows on the south wall and has
access to a small hallway on the west which leads to the southwest bathroom and through a door into another
small passage accessing the dressing room, bathroom, and closet for the southwest bedroom.

Southeast Bathroom (27)

This bathroom has turquoise Batchelder-like tile on the floor and as a wainscot (Photo 42). The pedestal sink, the
toilet, and the tub are turquoise hued. It has one window on the south wall. The mirror, towel bar, sconces, ceiling
light, shower rod, and soap holders are original.
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Southwest Bathroom (28)

The southwest bathroom has blue Batchelder-like tile on the floor and as a wainscot. The pedestal sink, the toilet,
and the tub are in a blue hue. The ceiling is paneled in reflective metal. It has one window on the south wall
(Photo 43). The mirror, towel bar, sconces, ceiling light, shower rod, and soap holders are original.

Southwest Bedroom and Northwest Bedroom (29)

These two bedrooms are accessed by the end of the main hallway. They are on the west side of the mansion in
the two corners. Both rooms are divided into a larger portion by their hallway doors and a smaller portion closer to
the corners of the mansion. Both bedrooms have large closets with built-in cupboards and shelves. The drawers
and doors have glass knobs.

Northwest Bathroom (30)
The northwest bathroom has tan tile with black accent tile. The pedestal sink, toilet, and tub are white. There is a
window on the north wall. The towel bar, sconces, ceiling light, shower rod, and soap holders are original.

Hallway (31)

The hallway between the lounge and the bedrooms has Vitrolite on the north wall in the portion of the hallway that
is open to the foyer. Set within the Vitrolite is an opening that accesses a linen closet and mop sink, the door to
the servant’s staircase, and an elevator (Photo 44). The rest of the hallway has plaster walls.

INTERIOR — THIRD FLOOR

Servant’s Stairway (32)

The servant's stairway is accessed from the main hallway on the second floor. This is the only stairway that
accesses all floors from the baserment to the third floor.

Hallway (33)

There is one hallway on the third floor (Photo 45). It accesses two large bedrooms on the west side of the
mansion and the servant's bedrooms and bathrooms on the east side of the mansion. The elevator opens to this
hallway.

Northwest Bedroom (34)
This bedroom is a large rectangular room with windows on the north and west walls. There are doors on the east
wall that access the hallway, a closet, and a bathroom.

MNorthwest Bathroom (35)

This bathroom has a window on the north wall. The floor is covered in tan hexagonal tile while the walls are
covered in pink subway tile with black detail tile (Photo 46). The pedestal sink, toilet, and tub are white. The towel
bar, sconces, ceiling light, shower rod, and soap holders are original.

Southwest Bedroom (36)

This bedroom is a large rectangular room with windows on the west and south walls (Photo 47). There is a door
on the east wall that accesses the bathroom. An opening on the east wall accesses a small vestibule for the room
that has a closet and the door to the hallway. The floor is covered with blue tile.

Southwest Bathroom (37)

This bathroom has windows on the south wall. The floor is covered in tan hexagonal tile while the walls are
covered in blue subway tile with a black and white pattern inserted near the top row, and blue subway tile framing
the window (Photo 48). The original pedestal sink, toilet, and tub are white. The toilet, tub, shower rod, faucets,
towel bars, soap holders, mirror, and medicine cabinet are original; the pedestal sink is not.
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Servant’s Bedrooms (38)
These line both sides of the hallway. Each room has carpet, a ceiling light, and a small closet.

Servant’s Bathrooms (39)

The north servant's bathroom has tan and green basket-weave tile on the floor and dark green subway tiles on
the walls (Photo 49). The pedestal sink, toilet, and tub are white. There is a window on the north wall. The south
servant's bathroom has square pink tile and pink subway tiles with a pink and black mini checkered pattern stripe
on the walls. The contemporary pedestal sink, toilet, and tub are white. There is a window on the south wall.

INTERIOR — BASEMENT

QOriginal Basement

The servant's stairway is accessed from the servant's hallway on the first floor. This is the only stairway that
accesses all floors from the basement to the third floor. The stairway (40) leads down into a small passage with
more stairs that accesses a large open room containing most of the utilities for the mansion (41). To the west of
the stairway is small room with a security gate instead of a door (42). There are smaller rooms on the east side of
the basement. A separate stairway on the north side of the main part of the basement accesses the parking area
on the north side. A small passage allows access from the original portion of the basement to the addition
designed by Greville Rickard in 1929 (43). The newer portion of the basement on the north side of the mansion
contains public rooms as opposed to the more utilitarian portion to the south.

Addition Basement

Guests could access the public rooms of the basement by using the curved stone staircase from the vestibule and
cloak room on the first floor of the addition (44). The largest room in the addition’s basement was the movie
theater (45). The projector was housed in a small room on the south wall of the room. The north wall once held
the movie screen. The room has wood doors on the north wall and south wall that once led into the organ pipe
rooms (46). These wood doors have layered “s” designs and are adorned with comedy/tragedy masks (Photo 50).
There is a small room to the east of the larger former organ pipe room that once held the organ equipment. There
is a door in the northeast corner of the room that led into to the former film storage room. The movie theater is
now a storage room. The small room (47) directly to the north of the basement vestibule was used for a tap room
(Photo 51). It is paneled in wood with shelving and a brick fire pit with a hood. The flooring is flagstone. On the
north side is a wood door that accesses a storage room, and the wine cellar is accessed from a door on the east
side.

GARAGE

EXTERIOR

The walls of the garage are structural terra cotta tiles covered in beige stucco. It is the Mediterranean Revival style
designed in the same manner as the mansion. The building is three stories tall with the top floor of the building being
the garage which is level with the ground accessed by Sunset Road. It has four garage doors on the east facade
and an entry door to the left of these doors (Photo 52). The north facade is stuccoed and also has a chimney, but
there is no fenestration. The south facade is also stuccoed and has a window on the left and a door on the right on
the bottom flocr, and two small rectangular windows on the top floor. The west facade is two stories tall plus a
basement level. The basement level has two doors. The middle (apartment) level has a large tripartite opening in the
center with French doors and two side windows that open out onto a wrought iron balcony. On the top (garage) level
are three sets of paired windows above a belt course. There are quoins on the corners of the building. The building
has a hipped roof with red clay tile (Fhoto 53).

INTERIOR
The garage interior was not accessible to the researchers.
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2 American Merchant Marine Museum, 300 Steamboat Road, Kings Point, NY. Contact: 516-726-6047; museum@usmma.edu.
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Significance

Period of Significance (justification)

1915-1960. These dates reflect the period of ownership for the mansion by Williams S. and Francoise D Barstow. Barstow
purchased the initial property in 1907, however, the mansion was constructed circa 1915. The former privately owned
estate is located along the north shore of Long Island, a favored location for wealthy New Yorkers to purchase or build
vacation homes. The heirs of Francoise Barstow sold the property to Frederick William Irving Lundy in 1960, who
purchased the estate as an investrment but did not live there. The period of significance, therefore, ends in 1960.

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph

As the former site of a mansion and estate belonging to William S. Barstow, the property now owned by the US Merchant
Marine Academy (USMMA) and home to the American Merchant Marine Museum (AMMM), is significant on a state level
as a reminder of the “Golden Age” of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. This was a period when financial,
industrial, and entertainment leaders were first nationally known and the recipients of vast amounts of wealth, either
earned or inherited. In and around the New York City area, this affluent cohort sought the “country life” on Long Island for
their second (or third, or fourth) homes. Like those of Newport, Rhode Island, these estates were often called “cottages” or
given other diminutive terms that belied their often palatial dimensions and decorations. The owners of these estates were
at the pinnacle of the New York social scene and their entertainments and other extravagances during the "Jazz Age”
were fodder to the news outlets of the time, with magazines and newspapers recounting every party, event, real estate
transaction, new construction, and civic institution with which these “celebrities” were involved. With a period of
significance from 1915-1960, the William Barstow Mansion is one of a handful of remaining “Gold Coast” mansions on
Long Island’s north shore, the area used by F. Scott Fitzgerald for inspiration when writing The Great Gatsby. William S.
Barstow was a founder and president of Edison Pioneers, a group of Thomas Edison's associates and early employees.
In addition to his working relationship and friendship with Thomas Edison, Barstow organized and oversaw the General
Gas and Electric Corporation, which at its height consisted of over 50 firms. The William Barstow Mansion, consisting of
two contributing features, retains its integrity and meets National Register Criteria A, B, and C at a state level. Criterion A
is met through the association of the remaining structures from this period with the history of the Long Island "Goeld Coast”
estates. Criterion B is met through the continuing association of the property with William S. Barstow, a prominent
industrialist of the era. The Barstow Mansion was his main residence from 1915 until the end of his life. Criterion C is met
through the design of the main mansion and garage on the Barstow property. The property’s centerpiece is the
Mediterranean Revival-style Barstow mansion, which is located on the waterfront with expansive grounds. A secondary
structure is the Mediterranean Revival-style former garage. The William Barstow Mansion contains features that
contribute to these areas of significance, and conveys a sense of historic and architectural cohesiveness through its
location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.

Narrative Statement of Significance

Long Island History®

Beginning in the last quarter of the nineteenth century, Nassau County, NY, was part of what became known as Long
Island’s “Gold Coast,” where many wealthy New Yorkers established elaborate estates within easy commuting distance to
downtown Manhattan. Between the Civil War and World War |, over 800 estates were developed between Queens and
Montauk (MacKay 1994:169). Most of these estates were summer retreats from which the residents returned to their city
dwellings during the winter (Schisgall 1951:24). Long Island possessed several advantages that led to the development of
estates, including easy access by rail, road, or water to the social, economic, and media center of New York City; the
availability of recreational pursuits; and the founding of sporting and other clubs (MacKay1994:170). Great Neck and
Kings Point were part of this development, and many of these early twentieth-century estates survive today. A local
historian described the area during the Jazz Age, “it was during the period of the Livermores, Sloans, Chryslers and

3 This section is extracted from The Louis Berger Group, Inc., Cultural Resources Survey Report, US. Merchant Marine Academy, Kings Point,
New York, (Lester, PA: Naval Facilities Engineering Command, 2005), unless otherwise cited.
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George M. Cohans that Kings Point glowed as part of the Gold Coast. At that time, hosts with enormous wealth, low
taxes, and glamorous guests were consistently throwing large parties. It was this setting that spawned the lifestyle of such
interest to F. Scott Fitzgerald” (Handler 1974).

The railroad was a dominant factor in the evolution of Long Island from a largely rural farming area into a thriving
residential area. By 1865, railroads were constructed across the center of Long Island and along the north and south
shores. By the turn of the twentieth century, the Long Island Rail Road (LIRR), which began construction in 1834, was the
dominant means of transportation from Long Island to New York City; in 1911, the LIRR completed direct rail service to
Pennsylvania Station in the heart of Manhattan. The decision of the LIRR to build stations and spur lines throughout Long
Island “sparked the summer colony movement” (MacKay 1894:170). The population of Nassau County’s small villages
along the railroad lines swelled with commuters, leaping from 55,448 in 1900 to 303,053 in 1930 (Nassau County, Long
Island, New York 2002).

Although rail was the preferred method of commuter transportation, many of Kings Point's residents traveled to their city
jobs by steamboat since the landing off EIm Point proved to be more conveniently located than the rail station. As early as
1859, a steamboat landing was located at the end of present-day Steamboat Road, which runs through the USMMA
campus (Walling 1859). Boats left the landing at 8:00 a.m. and returned at 6:00 p.m. The boats, however, were subject to
seasonal weather delays. Steamboats such as the Sewanhaka and the Idlewild continued their daily commutes until the
1930s (Schisgall 1951:24). The landing and an adjacent park remained public until the establishment of USMMA in 1942,
Some of the area’s wealthier residents even invested in their own “business boats,” which were private yachts that ferried
them back and forth between their Long Island homes and the city (MacKay 1994:171).

By the mid-twentieth century, major redevelopment of the east/west parkway systems, which were created just before
World War I, was supplemented by the creation of additional north/south parkways and the Long Island Expressway
(Nassau County, Long Island, New York 2002). Automobile travel was bolstered by the construction of bridges over the
East River as well. Increased access was a stimulus for additional residential construction. After World War [l, with
increased industrial opportunities and such mass housing developments as Levittown, which held over 10,000 new
homes, Nassau County's population continued to grow throughout the 1940s. What had at first been a retreat for wealthy
city dwellers soon became accessible to the middle class. Between 1950 and 1960, Nassau County experienced its
greatest population growth with an increase of 93.3 percent (from 672,765 to 1,300,171, Long Island Power Authority
2001:iv). Prior to and immediately after World War |, new county residents were mostly middle-class families settling in
the more affordable communities located along the LIRR. After World War |l, the construction of new roads and parkways
and the subsequent growth in the use of automobiles made Nassau County even more accessible to suburbanization
(Nassau County Planning Commission 1997:111-2). Combined with the increase in Suffolk County's population, the
population on Long Island for the period between 19501960 increased by over a million people. Population in Nassau
County continued to increase in the 1970s, when the county’'s population peaked at 1,428,000; during the 1980s and
1990s, however, the county experienced a slight loss of population.

William Slocum Barstow and Francoise Duclos Barstow

William Slocum Barstow was born in Breoklyn, New York, on 15 February 1866 to Frank Davis Barstow and Mrs. Mary W.
Slocum (Harper 2013:1; Figure 1). An 1887 graduate of Columbia University with a degree in chemistry, Barstow became
fascinated with electricity and electrical engineering in his senior year (Columbia University 1900:571). In 1882, Thomas
Alva Edison had set up his first electrical generating station and electrical lighting power distribution system, located in
New York City, Barstow's home-town. As a recent graduate convinced of a great future for electrical power, William
Barstow secured an entry-level job as an apprentice at the Edison Machine Works in Schenectady, New York (later to
become General Electric; New York Community Trust undated). Through early experience in the field testing and
supervising plant construction, Barstow came to the attention of Edison, who placed him in charge of setting up Edison’s
laboratory in West Orange, New Jersey. He gained an education through his employment and became a skilled electrical
engineer, inventory, and business manager. Barstow would later recall that electrical engineering as a subject was being
created on the spot as it evolved in laboratories, and the loose-leaf pamphlets issued weekly at the Edison Machine
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Works were the only available textbooks from which to learn (New York Community Trust undated). Barstow and Edison
formed a lifelong friendship and by 1889, Barstow was the electrical engineer of the Edison llluminating Company; he
quickly became its general superintendent, then the general manager (an obituary for Barstow says it was the Brooklyn
Edison Company; Edison Pioneers 1943). In the role of general manager, he was responsible for a series of innovations
including one of the first substation installation distribution systems. Barstow introduced the first central station storage-
battery system to the United States and planned the electrification of the Brooklyn Bridge (New York Community Trust
undated). He designed several improvements in the electrical delivery system involving multi-phase and single-phase
current. During his tenure with Edison, Barstow also invented, patented, licensed and sold his own inventions, including
the Barstow Booster System for more efficient operation of electric railways ; a two-rate meter system of charging for
electrical energy; electric-clock switches; and a method of charging storage batteries. (New York Community Trust
undated). While working as a contractor for Edison, he invented the electrical meter, which is still used today to determine
usage for billing purposes (Edison Pioneers 1943).

Since their inceptions in the 1880s, electric utility companies tended toward monopolistic operating systems—a single
large company made up of many smaller ones. This tendency resulted in a small number of highly leveraged, very large
holding companies that managed utility companies in a multi-state area. A 1928 survey of utility companies in the United
States revealed that just 41 of these companies accounted for 82 percent of the United States' electric energy production
(Pinchot 1928:2). Several of Thomas Edison’s former employees and associates headed large utility corporations, among
them William S. Barstow. By 1901, he had left the Edison’s company to become an independent consulting engineer. In
this capacity, he developed an expertise in hydroelectric and steam power-generation systems. He founded the firm of
W.S. Barstow & Co., Inc. in 1906 (Harper 2013:1; Electrical World 1921:300). W.S. Barstow & Co. managed the
operations and financial aspects of utility companies. On 3 July 1912, he started the General Gas and Electric Company,
which grew by acquisition of subsidiary power companies as well as its own power provision (Moody 1922:979; Shaw
1994:133). An article in Electrical World in 1913 describes the addition of financial management of utilities to the firm's
capabilities and also gives a sense of the complexity of these utility helding companies (Efectrical World 1913:710):

The firm of W. S. Barstow & Company, 50 Pine Street, New York, consulting engineers and managers of a
number of gas and electric properties in several states, has broadened its interests and, in addition to
engineering and operating will hereafter take up the financing of public service properties. In connection with
this new arrangement, Lucien H. Tyng, of the recent banking firm of Fugqua, Tyng & Company, and George
C. White, Jr., of the recent banking firm of George C. White, Jr., & Company, have become directors and
vice-presidents of W. S. Barstow & Company. The latter has sold to Montgomery, Clothier & Tyler, bankers,
of Philadelphia, its controlling interest in the Associated Gas & Electric Company, New York. This was
incorporated March 17, 19086, in New York as a holding company, and in October, 1909, the controlling
interest was acquired by the Barstow Company. The Associated Gas & Electric Company owns a controlling
interest in the following companies: thaca (N. Y.) Electric Light & Power Company, Ithaca (N. Y.) Gas Light
Company, Norwich (N. Y.) Gas & Electric Company, Van Wert (Ohio) Gas Light Company, Bethlehem (Pa.)
Consolidated Gas Company, Canisteo (N. Y.) Gas Company, Greenville (Ohio) Gas Light Company, Homer
& Cortland (N. Y.) Gas Light Company and the Hornell (N. Y.) Gas Light Company. The officers are: W. S.
Barstow, president; Joseph B. Taylor, secretary; O. Clement Swenson, treasurer, all of New York City.

On 15 September 1922, General Gas & Electric Corporation was created and "acquired all assets and assumed all
liabilities” of the General Gas and Electric Company (Meridian Morning Record 1924:7). In 1924, the corporation
controlled through stock ownership 10 public utility operating companies which in turn controlled by stock ownership and
leases 33 additional public utility companies and was offering shares of Class A stock at $101.50 per share (Meridian
Morning Record 1924:7). The corporation was managed by W. S. Barstow Management Association, Inc. By 1928, the
General Gas & Electric Corporation was operating in eight states and had assets valued at $168,634,232, with Barstow
listed as both president and director (Pinchot 1928:246). At the height of Barstow's utility empire, he served as president
of 30 utilities and as director of nearly 50 through the General Gas & Electric Corporation, with over 2.2 million customers
(New York Community Trust undated; Pinchot 19828:247). Six months before the 1929 stock market crash, Barstow sold
the two firms for $50 million. Control of the corporation was hotly contested between two giant holding companies,
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Associated Gas and Electric and United Gas Improvement, with the former gaining a controlling majority of the stock
(Reading Eagle 1923.12).

Barstow created and ran several more companies after 1929, including Barstow, Tyng & Co., Inc. and Barstow Campbell
& Co. (Time Magazine 1931, Harper 2013:1). He was active in academic and professional societies throughout his
working life and a member of the Board of Examiners of the American Institute of Electrical Engineers, as well as a fellow
and life member of the latter organization (Columbia University 1900: 171, Efectrical World 1921:300). He was also a
member of the llluminating Engineering Society (llluminating Engineering Society 1919:69). Barstow was a trustee of
Adelphi Academy and Stevens Institute of Technology, received honorary alumni status from the latter institution in
addition to being awarded a Doctor of Engineering degree (Harper 2013:2). He received an honcrary Doctorate in Science
from Columbia University on 2 June 1935 (Columbia University Quarterly 1935:342). Barstow was also very active in the
Edison Pioneers, a group of Edison’s associates that worked alongside him in the early days of electrical research and
implementation of power systems. Founded in 1918, membership was originally restricted to those associated with Edison
in 1885 and prior years, but membership was widened to include associates prior to 1900. The group had a single
function: to perpetuate and honor the genius, fame, and memory of Thomas Alva Edison (Edison Pioneers 1949:3). The
group met annually on 11 February, Edison’s birthday. Although unable to attend in 1918, Edison did attend later
meetings during the last 14 years of his life, enjoying them greatly. William Barstow helped organize the association and
was the longest serving president of the Edison Pioneers, from 1929-1936 (Edison Pioneers 1949:3).

In 1894, Barstow had married Francoise Melanie Duclos of New Brunswick, New Jersey (Figure 2). Mrs. Barstow was the
daughter of an iron architect, Joseph Michael Duclos (Harper 2013:1). William and Francoise had one child, a son named
Frederic Duclos Barstow, born 1 October 1895 in Brooklyn. Frederick studied at Columbia University, but left to fight in
World War |. After the war, he settled in Chittenden, Vermaont, where he started the Vermont Silver Fox Farm. Frederic
traveled extensively and spent much time in American Samoa, where he developed an interest in improving education
options for the Samoan people. Before he could implement his ideas, he was taken ill and died of pneumonia in Honolulu,
Hawaii, on 20 May 1931, while on a trip with his parents (Armitage 200950, Time Magazine 1931). His funeral took place
at the Kings Point home on 5 June 1931 (Harper 2013:1).

Once he had divested himself of his two large companies, Barstow took up philanthropy as a profession. The William and
Francoise Barstow Foundation was established in 1931 for charitable and educational purposes. Among the first gifts
were three made in honor of their son. In September 1931, William and Francoise established the $200,000 Frederic
Duclos Barstow Foundation for American Samoans for the education of native Samoans (Bank of Hawaii 2013; Time
Magazine 1931). They also funded the construction and operation of the Frederic Duclos Barstow Memorial School in
1933 as a gift to the town of Chittenden, where the Barstows had a home (Armitage 2009:50). Lastly, they funded the
Frederic Duclos Barstow Memorial Sciences Building at the Pawling School, attended by Frederic (Harper 2013:1). That
same year (1931), the couple founded the William and Francoise Barstow Foundation, administered by the New York
Community Trust in the amount of $657,521 for charitable and educational purposes; a bequest after Barstow's death in
1942 added an additional $457,344 (Harper 2013:1; New York Community Trust undated). In 1937, Barstow supplied
funding for the construction of the Edison Tower at Menlo Park, New Jersey. The 145-foot tower is located on the site of
the Menlo Park laboratory and was dedicated the following year as a symbol of “eternal light” (Edison Pioneers 1949:13).
Barstow was also instrumental in having Edison’s memorabilia moved to Henry Ford's Dearborn Institute in Michigan
(Harper 2013:1). The couple’s philanthropy was also local, as they funded a parish house at St. Paul’'s Protestant
Episcopal Church in Great Neck in 1932 and paid much of the cost for the lowering of the LIRR tracks and building an
overpass at Middle Neck Road in Great Neck in the 1930s. This overpass eliminated a dangerous crossing and the
grateful citizens renamed 7" Street to Barstow Road and installed a plague on the wall of the overpass expressing their
thanks (Pincus 1983:75). In 1934, they established the $150,000 W.S. Barstow Scholarship Foundation at Stevens
Institute of Technology in Hoboken, New Jersey (Harper 2013:2). Mrs. Barstow was active in her own right, particularly in
donating the land, house, and furnishings for the Woman’s Club of Great Neck on the North Shore, with the $250,000
clubhouse opening in 1937 (Harper 2013:2). In spite of all this activity, William Barstow made time for recrea